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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
 
 
DAVID WITT AND KINUYO GOCHAKU 
WITT, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

 
THE VILLAGE OF MAMARONECK, THE 
VILLAGE OF MAMARONECK PLANNING 
BOARD and ROBERT MELILLO, Individually 
and in his Official Capacity as the Building 
Inspector, 
  

Defendants. 
 

  
Civil Action No.   
 
 
 
COMPLAINT 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
Plaintiffs David Witt and Kinuyo Gochaku Witt (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their 

attorneys Newman Ferrara LLP, as and for their Complaint, allege upon knowledge, information 

and/or belief as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
  

1. This is a civil action against Defendants Village of Mamaroneck (“Village”), the 

Village of Mamaroneck Planning Board (“Planning Board”) and Building Inspector Robert 

Melillo (“Melillo”). Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, punitive damages, and attorneys’ 

fees and costs. 

2. Plaintiffs are a young married couple whose home in the Village was severely 

damaged in late 2011 by flooding from Hurricane Irene, rendering it uninhabitable.  

3. The Defendants (collectively and individually), through their intentional, 

negligent and deliberately indifferent acts, and through their selective enforcement of the law, 
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obstructed Plaintiffs’ efforts to repair the flood damage to their house so that they could move 

back into their home with their young baby and resume their lives.  

4. Defendants’ actions caused Plaintiffs to be permanently displaced and to suffer 

the financial and emotional impacts of losing the home they had worked so hard to buy together 

and where they had dreamed of raising their family.         

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1343.  

6. Jurisdiction is proper over Plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1367. A Notice of Claim pursuant to New York General Municipal Law § 50-e was timely 

served upon Defendant Village of Mamaroneck on March 30, 2012.  More than thirty days have 

elapsed without the matter being resolved by the Village. 

7. Venue in the Southern District of New York is proper under 28 U.S.C § 1391(b) 

as the Defendant Village of Mamaroneck is located in Westchester County and the events 

complained of herein arose there. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff David Witt (“David Witt”) is a citizen of the United States and, at all  

times relevant to the Complaint, a resident of Westchester County, New York. At all relevant 

times, David Witt was the co-owner of the property located at 615 First Street in the Village of 

Mamaroneck.   

9. Plaintiff Kinuyo Gochaku Witt (“Kinuyo Witt”) is a legal resident of the United 

States and, at all times relevant to the Complaint, a resident of Westchester County, New York.  

At all relevant times, Kinuyo Gochaku Witt was the co-owner of the property located at 615 First 
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Street in the Village of Mamaroneck.    

10. Defendant Village of Mamaroneck (“Village”) is, upon information and belief, a 

duly constituted municipal corporation located in Westchester County, existing under the laws of 

the State of New York.  The Village maintains its principal place of business at 123 Mamaroneck 

Ave., Mamaroneck, NY 10543 (“Village Hall”).    

11. Defendant Village of Mamaroneck Planning Board (“Planning Board”) was 

created pursuant to § 7-718 of the Village Law of the State of New York by the Village Board of 

Trustees and authorized as the final decision-maker regarding the granting of  variances pursuant 

to Village Code Chapter 186, Flood Damage Prevention.  

12. Defendant Building Inspector Robert Melillo was at all relevant times an 

employee of the Village and the duly appointed Building Inspector authorized as the final 

decision-maker for the granting of building permits, performance of housing inspections, code 

enforcement and issuance of stop-work orders and Violations and Order to Remedy Notices to 

owners of properties who are in violation of any building, zoning or any other law or regulation. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 
 
 Plaintiffs Purchase Their Home in Mamaroneck 
 
13.  In April 2009, Plaintiffs purchased their first home together. The single family 

home was located at 615 First Street, in the Village of Mamaroneck. 

14. The purchase price for the home was $366,500, which Plaintiffs paid by taking on 

a mortgage of approximately $354,000. 

15. The house was located near the Mamaroneck River. 

16. Prior to their purchase of the home, the previous owners disclosed to them that the 

house had been flooded in 2007. 
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17. Plaintiffs knew that they would be required to purchase flood insurance and they 

bought a policy for the maximum amount available of $250,000 for structural damage and 

$25,000 for damage to the contents of their home. 

18. David Witt made inquiries with the Village Building Department to try to get 

more information about the extent of flooding in the area where the house was located, but no 

one at the Building Department would give him any specific information. 

19. Mr. Witt also undertook independent research on the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency’s (“FEMA”) website which also did not provide him any specific 

information about the 615 First Street property and any prior history of flood damage.  

20. It was only after purchasing the home, that Mr. Witt learned from his neighbors 

that there had been other flooding events prior to 2007. 

 Hurricane Irene Severely Damaged Plaintiffs’ Home 

21.  Plaintiffs and their three month old son were forced to leave their home on 

August 27, 2011 after receiving an evacuation notice from the Village.   

22. On August 28, Plaintiffs’ home, like nearly all of homes in their neighborhood, 

was severely damaged by flooding caused by Hurricane Irene.  

23. Plaintiffs’ home, consisting of two stories and an unfinished basement, was 

flooded up to the first floor with water up to approximately three feet.   

24. After the flood waters receded, Plaintiffs came back to inspect their home and 

found it had sustained serious damage and was uninhabitable.  

25. Plaintiffs immediately made a claim with Travelers Insurance, the carrier of their 

homeowner’s policy, and Selective Insurance, the carrier of their flood policy. 

26.  Travelers denied coverage under the homeowner’s policy on the basis that the 
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policy did not cover flooding.  

27. Selective sent a flood insurance adjustor to conduct an inspection on September 

12, 2011.  

28. On September 20, 2011, David Witt called Village Manager Richard Slingerland 

(“the Village Manager” or “Slingerland”) to ask what the Village could do to assist them. 

Slingerland and Assistant Village Manager Daniel Sarnoff (“the Assistant Village Manager” or 

“Sarnoff”) met Plaintiffs at their home later that day to look at the damage.    

29. David Witt asked the Village officials if the Village could assist them in receiving 

funds from FEMA. The Village officials, without elaborating as to the reason, informed the 

Plaintiffs that no FEMA grants were available to Village residents.   

30. The Village Manager informed the Plaintiffs that the Village was, however, 

waiving the fee for building permits to residents who were flood victims for any applications 

submitted by September 30, 2011 and encouraged the Witts to submit their application before 

that date even though they had not yet received an insurance settlement or hired their contractor. 

31. On September 29, 2011, David Witt personally submitted Plaintiffs’ Building 

Permit application at the Building Department.  

32.  Plaintiffs were not at that time able to hire a contractor because they had not yet 

received any insurance funds but Mr. Witt wanted to begin the building permit application 

process in order to save the filing fee charge and avoid unnecessary delay in commencing the 

repair work once the funds were received.   

33. On October 24, 2011, Plaintiffs’ insurance company ordered an engineering 

inspection of the house which further delayed the processing of Plaintiffs’ claim and their ability 

to hire a contractor to begin work on the house. The inspection did not take place until November 
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15, 2011 and the inspector’s report was not competed until December 16, 2011. 

34. Based on the engineer’s findings of November 15, 2011, Plaintiffs instructed their 

contractor, Mr. Herbert, to begin the process of completing the submissions to the building 

permit application initially submitted by David Witt on September 29, 2011.  

35. Mr. Herbert, without delay, submitted plans to the Village Building Department 

for review as part of the Building Permit application that had been pending since it was filed by 

Mr. Witt on September 29.   

36. Herbert estimated that repair work would be an 8 to 10 week job costing 

approximately $115,000. 

37. While awaiting disbursement of insurance funds, Plaintiffs took out a personal 

loan on for $45,000 in order to begin paying their contractor. 

38. On December 24, 2011, Selective Insurance issued a payment of $72,000 in 

insurance funds.  The funds did not go directly to Plaintiffs, but were sent to their mortgagee, 

Chase Bank.  Chase then controlled disbursement to the Plaintiffs.  

39. Chase made an initial disbursement to Plaintiffs on January 9, 2012 for $24,000. 

The Village Issues Plaintiffs a Building Permit and Repair Work Proceeds   

40. Two weeks later, on November 29, 2011, the Village approved Plaintiff’s 

Building Permit and Mr. Herbert went to the Building Department to pick it up. 

41. Relying on the Village having issued a valid building permit, on December 5, 

2011, the repair work on Plaintiffs’ home finally commenced and continued for the next four 

weeks.   

42. Because of the delay imposed upon Plaintiffs while awaiting payment from their 

insurance company, their neighbors had already substantially completed the repairs to their 
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homes along First Street and other nearby streets by the time the Witts were able to hire their 

contractor, complete the Building Permit application by submitting the contractor’s plans, and be 

issued their building permit,   

43. During the four-week period that the repair work was underway at Plaintiffs’ 

home, the Village and/or its agents conducted at least three inspections of the property and each 

time the project passed inspection.   

44. After four weeks of continuous repair work on Plaintiffs’ home, approximately 

40-50% of the project was completed, making Plaintiffs hopeful that they would soon be able to 

move back into their home with their baby.  

45. Being displaced from their home in the aftermath of Hurricane Irene had imposed 

a serious financial and emotional hardship on Plaintiffs. They were forced to find temporary 

accommodations with their new baby but continued to be responsible for meeting their monthly 

mortgage payments and shouldering the financial and emotional burden of trying to restore their 

home to habitability.   

46. Because of the hardship they were suffering, Plaintiffs were desperate to move 

back into their home and were hopeful that sufficient work would soon be completed on the 

house to render it sufficiently habitable for them to move back in.   

Building Inspector Melillo Issues a Verbal Stop Work Order 

47. Unfortunately Plaintiffs’ hopes for returning to their home were dashed when on 

or about January 3, 2012, Defendant Building Inspector Robert Melillo personally showed up at 

the project site and told Plaintiffs’ contractor that work had to stop.  

48. Contractor Herbert was not given any specific information as to why Melillo was 

issuing the verbal stop work order, and no written stop work order was ever issued advising 
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Plaintiffs’ of Melillo’s grounds for stopping the repair work.     

49. On or about January 5, 2012, David Witt spoke with Defendant Melillo for the 

first time. During their telephone conversation, Melillo stated that he issued the stop work order 

because the building permit had been issued in error.  

50. Although Mr. Witt communicated the hardship this placed on his family, Melillo 

offered no further explanation and refused to consider alternatives that might allow Plaintiffs to 

complete sufficient repair work to move back into their home.  

51. The verbal stop work order and revocation of the building permit by Defendant 

Melillo denied Plaintiffs their protected property interest in the building permit that had inured 

upon its issuance. 

52. The property rights and interests afforded Plaintiffs upon the issuance of the 

building permit were impermissibly revoked by Defendant Melillo, acting as the Village’s final 

decision-maker, without his first conducting proper proceedings or providing Plaintiffs with the 

notice or the opportunity to be heard, as required by due process.  

53. Defendant Melillo selectively and wrongfully denied Plaintiffs these rights while 

allowing Plaintiffs’ neighbors, and other Village residents, to repair their homes without 

imposing upon them the same requirements and burdens he imposed upon Plaintiffs.     

Section 186 of the Village Building Code 

54. Melillo advised Plaintiffs that they would have to go through a lengthy process to 

get his stop work order lifted because he was deeming the work on their house a “substantial 

improvement” pursuant to Section 186 of the Village Building Code. 

55. At that time, Section 186 of the Village Building Code defined “substantial 

improvement as: 
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Any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a structure, 
the cost of which equals or exceeds 50% of the market value of the structure 
before the start of construction of the improvement. Substantial improvement 
also means "cumulative substantial improvement." (emphasis added). The 
term includes structures which have incurred substantial damage, regardless of the 
actual repair work performed. The term does not, however, include either: 
(1) Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of 
state or local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been 
identified by the local code enforcement official and which are the minimum 
necessary to assure safe living conditions; or  
(2) Any alteration of an historic structure, provided that the alteration will not 
preclude the structure's continued designation as an historic structure.  
 
 
56. Prior to an amendment in September 2012 of Section 186, and at all times 

relevant to the allegations herein, the Village Code required that where a home located in a flood 

plain had sustained “substantial damage” and required repairs to the home were deemed by the 

Building Inspector to constitute a “cumulative substantial improvement”, the homeowner was 

required to reconstruct and elevate their home’s foundation, unless a variance was applied for 

and granted by the Village Planning Board.  

57. Notably, in September 2012 the Village Board of Trustees voted to amend 

Section 186 of the Village Code to remove the “cumulative” provision from the definition of 

substantial improvement.  

58. In advocating for the change, Village Mayor Norman Rosenblum stated that the 

“cumulative” provision of the law was “financially ridiculous” to the point where its application 

might require homeowners to walk away from their properties and be forced to leave the Village. 

59. Village Manager Richard Slingerland noted in a June 14, 2012, memorandum 

regarding the proposed amendment that the “cumulative substantial improvement” provision put 

a very heavy burden on homeowners who can least afford them because of the concentration of 

low and moderate income families, such as Plaintiffs, in flood-prone neighborhoods.   
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60. Unfortunately the amendment to Section 186 came many months after the Village 

had already inflicted the harms alleged herein upon Plaintiffs by selectively enforcing the 

unamended Section 186 “cumulative substantial improvement” provision against them.  

Planning Board Variance  

61. At all relevant times to the allegations herein, Section 186-6 of the Village Code, 

vested the Planning Board with the authority to issue variances to the requirements of Section 

186-6 under the following conditions: 

(a) A showing of good and sufficient cause; 
(b) A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in 
exceptional hardship to the applicant; and 
(c) A determination that the granting of the variance will not result in 
increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary 
public expense, create nuisances, cause fraud on or victimization of the 
public or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances. 

   
62. In January 2012, Defendant Melillo told David Witt that before seeking a 

variance from the Village Planning Board, Plaintiffs were first required to obtain a New York 

State variance and that this process would take 4 to 6 months.    

63. The next day, on or about January 6, 2012, Plaintiff David Witt spoke to Erica 

Krieger, an official from the Department of State. He advised her that Plaintiffs had been told by 

the Village that they were over their cumulative substantial improvement and that a variance was 

needed to avoid having to elevate the house.  

64. Ms. Krieger questioned Mr. Witt about how the Village was calculating the 

“substantial improvement,”  Ms. Krieger stated to Plaintiff Witt that she did not believe the 

repairs on the property constituted a substantial improvement as defined by the Village, and that 

she did not think a state variance was required in order for Plaintiffs to proceed with the repairs 

to their home. 
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65. On or about January 24, 2012, the Plaintiffs, Ms. Krieger, Inspector Melillo, and 

some of Plaintiff  David Witt’s colleagues conducted a site visit of Plaintiffs’ property.  At the 

site visit, Ms. Krieger informed all present parties that she did not believe the State would have 

any further involvement because a New York state variance would not be required and the matter 

was left solely in the Village’s hands.   

66. Plaintiffs turned to Defendant Melillo for guidance, telling him that after being 

displaced for over five months with a little baby, they were desperate to move back into their 

home and resume their lives.  

67. Defendant Melillo told Plaintiffs they would have to get a variance from the 

Planning Board and after doing so, the cumulative improvement clock would be reset back to 

zero, meaning they could repair the house.  If another flood occurred and caused damage, they 

would again be allowed to repair their home. He said that without a variance, they would never 

be able to fix their home.  

68. Plaintiffs asked Defendant Melillo if the stop work order could be lifted just to 

allow for one more week of work so that they could live in the home while dealing with the 

variance process.  

69. In response, Defendant Melillo was combative and defensive and adamant that he 

would not lift the stop work order for any reason. He rejected out of hand several ideas put 

forward by Plaintiffs, including their offer to reduce the scope of the work on the house so the 

cost would not constitute a “substantial improvement” under the Village Code.     

70. Plaintiffs questioned Defendant Melillo as to why no other households in their 

neighborhood had been subjected to the same treatment, including many neighboring houses 

completing substantial repairs without building permits.   
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71.  Inspector Melillo told Plaintiffs that other households in the Village either did the 

repair work illegally, or did not file for building permits and that Plaintiffs were “being punished 

for doing the right thing.”  

72. Melillo than told Plaintiffs to follow him back to the Building Department where 

he would provide them with a copy of an application for a variance submitted for a house located 

down the block at 811 N. Barry Ave that they could use as a model for their variance application.  

73. After the meeting on January 24, it became clear to Plaintiffs that the situation 

was becoming more then they could handle on their own, so they retained the services of 

architect Clark Neuringer to assist them with the Planning Board variance process.  

74. Two days later, on January 26, 2012, Defendant Melillo told David Witt that he 

had spoken to the Planning Board the previous day and that Plaintiffs were going to “have a hard 

time getting this variance.”  

75. On January 27, 2012, Mr. Witt submitted Plaintiffs’ variance application for the 

Planning Board and, although the $250 application fee was waived, Plaintiffs were required to 

make a $2,000 escrow deposit for the Planning Board’s consultant fees.  

76. That same day Mr. and Mrs. Witt spoke with Village Manager Richard 

Slingerland and questioned him about what appeared to be selective enforcement of the code 

because Plaintiffs’ home seemed to be the only house on their block being required to obtain a 

variance. Slingerland responded by saying that Plaintiffs’ neighbors had obtained permits, but 

had performed work illegally, and that the Village was taking corrective steps.  

77. On or about February 6, 2012, Plaintiffs attended a meeting with the Planning 

Board consultant, Ms. Susan Favarte, to review their variance application. Defendant Melillo 

also attended.   
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78. During the meeting, Planning Board consultant Favarte expressed that  Plaintiffs 

would be eligible for a variance based on hardship. 

79. However, Defendant Melillo interjected and reiterated that Plaintiffs were going 

to “have a hard time getting the variance” because he was “getting beat up by all these agencies 

and FEMA.”  

80. Plaintiffs were upset and concerned with Mr. Melillo’s behavior at the meeting, 

particularly his interference in their discussions with the Planning Board consultant. 

81. Plaintiffs expressed to Melillo their feelings of concern about his treatment of 

them and that they were being subjected to selective enforcement by the Village.  

82. Defendant Melillo further told Plaintiffs at this meeting that he had been incorrect 

when he had previously informed them that obtaining a variance would set the cumulative 

damage totals back to zero. Instead, according to Melillo, even if they received the variance and 

repaired their house, any future flood damage would require them to either elevate the 

foundation or seek another variance.  

83. On February 8, 2012, Plaintiffs application for a variance was heard by the 

Planning Board.  

84. The Planning Board members were very critical of Plaintiffs’ application and also 

publicly criticized the efforts they had undertaken thus far to rebuild their house. 

85. During the meeting, both Plaintiffs had the opportunity to speak about the 

hardship and suffering the situation was causing their family.  

86. David Witt pleaded with the Planning Board that because of his family’s dire 

situation, time was of the essence for the Planning Board to do what was necessary to help 

Plaintiffs get back into their house.  
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87. A few members of the Planning Board acknowledged the seriousness of the 

matter and pushed for a vote on Plaintiffs’ variance application. However, the attorney for the 

Planning Board advised the Board that there could be ramifications to their decisions because 

“other agencies” were looking closely at the Village and its handling of Section 186.  

88. The meeting ended without action being taken and Plaintiffs were told that they 

would be required to submit additional information, including new plans drawn by an architect. 

89. Plaintiffs were also told that they must submit a Floodplain Development Permit 

Application and to meet with the Village Engineer and Building Inspector to go over what was 

needed for the permit and to identify the specific sections of the Village Code they were 

requesting a variance from.   

90. On February 13, Mr. Witt and architect Neuringer met with the Building Inspector 

and Village Engineer and asked the Building Inspector to specify the sections of the Village code 

that Plaintiffs should seek a variance from. Melillo told them they should just apply for a 

variance for the whole section. 

91. The next day, on February 14, Mr. Witt sent a six page memo to the Planning 

Board with responses to issues raised by Ms. Favarte following the February 8 Planning Board 

meeting and confirming Defendant Melillo’s instruction to Plaintiffs “that applying for 

individual line items for specific variances would not be necessary and that requesting a variance 

for the entire Section 186 will suffice.” 

92. That same day Defendant Melillo sent a memo to Mr. Witt contradicting his 

verbal instructions of February 13 and listing specific variances to Section 186 which he now 

said Plaintiffs were required to apply for.  

93. This was the first written communication Plaintiffs had had ever received from 
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Defendant Melillo regarding this matter. 

94. In response, Plaintiffs complied with Defendant Melillo’s changed instructions 

and submitted a revised memo the next day addressing the specific variances they were 

requesting.     

95. On February 15, 2012 the Planning Board again considered the Plaintiffs’ 

variance application at a Special Meeting.  

96. At the meeting, the tone of the Board was very antagonistic toward Plaintiffs’ 

application. Board members expressed concern about possible future owners of their home but 

none for the immediate hardship being inflicted upon Plaintiffs.   

97. Mr. Witt expressed to the Board members that he could not believe that everyone 

was so concerned about the future owners of the house and pleaded with them, “This is us, we 

are asking for this. We need this. My family needs to get back in our home.” 

98. The Board members, appearing to be in a rush to end the meeting, voted on a 

resolution approving a variance but with conditions that were onerous, unreasonable, unfair and 

rendered Plaintiffs home worthless because any potential subsequent purchaser would be 

responsible for elevating the house’s foundation and Plaintiffs’ were required by the Planning 

Board to add notice of this restriction to their deed. 

99. It was also at this meeting that Defendant Melillo shocked Plaintiffs when he 

informed them that just that day he had spoken with someone from the State and delivered the 

news that certain variances would still have to be obtained from the State, a process that would 

take another four to six months and further delay their ability to repair and return to their home.     

100. The Board voted, but without a written resolution before them. So at the Planning 

Board’s next scheduled meeting on February 22, 2012, the Village Planning Board adopted a 
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formal resolution granting the variance with the unprecedented and unduly onerous conditions.  

101. Since the February 2012 Planning Board meetings, Plaintiffs have run out of 

money to repair their home or pay their mortgage 

102. Plaintiffs have defaulted on their mortgage, their lender has commenced 

foreclosure proceedings and their credit has been ruined.  

 Selective Enforcement 

103. The variance conditions imposed upon Plaintiffs were not imposed by the 

Planning Board on any other homeowner in the Village. Nor were any other homeowners 

subjected to the abusive, costly and futile process imposed upon Plaintiffs by Building Inspector 

Melillo and the Planning Board.  

104. The only rationale Plaintiffs were given as to why they were treated in this 

selective and discriminatory manner came from Defendant Melillo who falsely claimed that 

FEMA was auditing the Village’s handling of flood damage claims and had picked out Plaintiffs’ 

claim to monitor. 

105. While Plaintiffs made every effort to  scrupulously  follow the proper procedures 

for obtaining the necessary permits and authorizations to repair their home, the Village knew or 

should have known that other neighboring property owners were repairing their damaged homes 

without applying for or receiving the proper permits and authorizations from the Village. 

106. Several properties that were located near Plaintiffs’ home on First Street, North 

Barry Avenue, and Forest Avenue sustained cumulative damage from Hurricane Irene and prior 

flooding incidents comparable to that sustained by Plaintiffs’ home.  

107. For example, according to records of the Village Building Department, the 

property located at 615 Forest Avenue required repair costs exceeding $310,000 as a result of 
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Hurricane Irene, but was not subjected to a Village Code 186 determination that cumulative 

repairs constituted a “substantial improvement” or required to seek a variance. 

108. According to Village Building Department records, the properly located at 811 N. 

Barry Avenue required repair costs exceeding $235,000 in the period between a 2007 flooding 

event and Hurricane Irene, but also was not subjected to a Village Code 186 determination  that 

cumulative repairs constituted a “substantial improvement” or required to seek a variance. 

109. Similarly, a home located at 1616 James Street also sustained substantial flood 

damage in 2007 and 2011 but the Village allowed the owner to repair it to its former state 

without requiring compliance with Section 186 requirements or imposing the onerous conditions 

placed upon Plaintiffs.     

110. After turning a blind eye to the unauthorized and/or non-compliant repair work by 

Plaintiffs’ neighbors and other Village residents, Village officials singled Plaintiffs as sacrificial 

lambs to make it appear to state and federal authorities that the Village was finally addressing its 

past failure to comply with and enforce flood-zone regulations.   

111. This lack of compliance and enforcement was having a detrimental and direct 

economic impact on the Village and its residents because the Village was required to have 

certain laws in effect, and demonstrate enforcement of those laws, in order to participate in the 

National Flood Insurance Program.  

112. One ramification of the Village’s longstanding pattern of non-compliance and 

selective  enforcement of federal flood-zone regulations was that FEMA had denied approval for 

the Village to be an administrator of FEMA flood grants designed to assist homeowners in 

repairing their homes, including elevating their foundations.      

113. Defendant Melillo explicitly stated to Plaintiffs that a reason for the delayed 
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granting of their flood variance was because FEMA was auditing the Village, and indicated that 

the Plaintiffs’ property located at 615 First Street would be the claim used to demonstrate how 

the Village handled applications for flood plain variances. 

114. Village officials singled out Plaintiffs as targets for their draconian tactics because 

as young, new residents in the community they lacked the local ties and political influence of  

many other homeowners who received more favorable treatment. 

115. The Defendants acted intentionally to single out Plaintiffs for the purpose of 

depriving them of protected property interests afforded by the issuance of the building permit 

and of their use and enjoyment of their home. 

116.   The continued denial of public monies to Village residents because of FEMA’s 

disapproval of the way the Village enforced flood regulations placed considerable political 

pressure on Village officials from homeowners more politically connected and influential than 

Plaintiffs to take whatever steps were necessary to get public flood repair monies flowing. 

117. Defendants’ intentional selective treatment of Plaintiffs arose out of political 

concerns that unless the Village demonstrated to FEMA and other authorities that the Village 

was “getting tough” regarding the enforcement of regulations regarding home repairs of flood 

damage and the granting of variances it would continue to be denied approval by said authorities 

to receive and administrate state and federal grant monies available for flood repairs.   

 
FEDERAL CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Equal Protection in Violation of Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 
 
118. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  
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119. Defendants Village and Melillo, acting under color of law, denied Plaintiffs their 

rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to equal protection of the law by selectively enforcing 

laws and regulations that imposed upon Plaintiffs restrictions, burdens and requirements not 

imposed upon their neighbors and other similarly situated Village homeowners suffering from 

flood damage. 

120. The Village Planning Board disparately treated Plaintiffs and selectively 

enforced the law by imposing an unusually onerous and hostile variance application process 

upon them and imposing conditions that were unprecedented and so draconian that they 

permanently denied Plaintiffs the use and enjoyment of their home, forced them into foreclosure, 

and ruined their credit.   

121. The Defendants’ actions were motivated by their intention to discriminate 

against Plaintiffs by singling them out to use as an example to FEMA and other authorities that 

the Village had corrected its previous failure to enforce flood damage regulations.  

122. Defendants’ actions were taken against Plaintiffs knowing it would cause them 

injury and prevent them from ever being able to repair or re-inhabit their home.  

123. As a result, Plaintiffs have suffered damages, and continue to suffer damages, in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

 
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Substantive Due Process in Violation of Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 
1983) 

 

124. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  

125. Defendant Melillo caused injury to Plaintiffs, through the exercise of his final 
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decision-making authority, by interfering with and revoking their protected property right and 

interest in the previously issued valid building permit. 

126. Defendant Melillo caused injury to Plaintiffs’ property right and interest in their 

issued building permit without first affording them proper process, notice or an opportunity to be 

heard. 

127. Defendant Melillo’s verbal stop work order prevented Plaintiffs from proceeding 

with repairs to their home sufficient to render it habitable thus denying them the use and 

enjoyment of their property. 

128. The Village further deprived Plaintiffs from the use, enjoyment and continued 

ownership of their home through the actions of the Planning Board, as final decision-making 

authority for the granting of variances to Section 186 of the Village Code, by imposing 

unprecedented and onerous conditions upon Plaintiffs that rendered it economically unfeasible 

for them to either repair their home to habitability or sell it without a significant loss.   

129. As a result, Plaintiffs have suffered damages, and continue to suffer damages, in 

an amount to be determined at trial. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Procedural Due Process in Violation of Fourteenth and Fifth Amendment and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983) 
 
130. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  

131. Plaintiffs’ valid property interest in their issued building permit was revoked by 

Defendant Melillo in violation of Plaintiffs’ procedural due process rights when he issued a 

verbal stop work order to their contractor without affording Plaintiffs any written notice or an 

opportunity to be heard. 
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132. Plaintiffs were deprived of their property rights and interests without being 

afforded an appropriate and fair process by Defendant Melillo or the Village Planning Board.  

133. Plaintiffs were injured by decision-making processes wherein Village officials 

acted in bad faith and with deliberate indifference to the injuries they were inflicting upon 

Plaintiffs.  

134.  Plaintiffs were injured by decision-making processes where Village officials did 

not afford them clear or consistent information or written notice and a full and fair opportunity to 

be heard before depriving them of their property interests. 

135. Defendants Village and Melillo acted under color of law to intentionally and 

selectively impose conditions and restrictions upon Plaintiffs which constituted an unlawful 

taking of their property without due process of law.    

136. As a result, Plaintiffs have suffered damages, and continue to suffer damages, in 

an amount to be determined at trial. 

 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Monell Claim Against the Village of Mamaroneck) 

137. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

138. The violations of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights were proximately caused by 

policies, procedures, customs and practices of the Defendant Village, its Building Inspector as 

final decision-maker, and Planning Board as final decision-maker. 

139. Defendant Village failed to have in place policies and procedures to insure the fair 

and honest provision of government services in regard to the actions of its Building Department 

and Planning Board. 
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140. Defendant Village failed to properly train and supervise its employees and 

officials resulting in a custom and practice of selectively enforcing the requirements for 

obtaining building permits and for their revocation. 

141. Defendant Village failed to properly train and supervise its employees resulting in 

a custom and practice of selectively enforcing Section 186 in regard to declaring flood damage 

repairs as “substantial improvements” and requiring homeowners to elevate their foundations in 

order to obtain building permits.   

142. Defendant Melillo, as Building Inspector, was deliberately indifferent in failing to 

enforce Village ordinances and policies by allowing many homeowners to proceed with flood 

repairs without obtaining a building permit or by issuing them a building permit based on an 

underestimation of the cost of repairs so that they could avoid a determination that the work 

constituted a “substantial improvement” under Section 186. 

143. Defendant Melillo, as the Village’s final authority for the issuance of building 

permits issued, and then four weeks later constructively revoked, Plaintiffs’ Building Permit after 

repair work was well underway and Plaintiffs’ home was almost re-habitable.  

144. Defendant Village’s Planning Board, as final authority for the issuance of 

variances to Section 186, for no legitimate purpose selectively enforced said code provision 

against Plaintiffs’ property in an unduly onerous manner and imposed conditions impossible for 

Plaintiffs to meet and constituted a constructive taking of Plaintiffs’ property. 

145. As a result, Plaintiffs have suffered damages, and continue to suffer damages, in 

an amount to be determined at trial. 

STATE CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Negligence) 
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146. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

147. Defendant Melillo was negligent in his failure to exercise his functions in regard 

to the public, including Plaintiffs, with the due care which prudent and reasonable individuals 

would show in executing the duties of Building Inspector to: grant building permits; revoke 

building permits; issue stop work orders; monitor post-flood home repair activities; provide 

information to homeowners in the wake of a serious flood event; and provide adequate process, 

notice and the opportunity to be heard to homeowners before making decisions seriously 

impacting their property rights.   

148. The Village was negligent in its failure to adequately train, supervise, discipline 

or in any other way monitor or control the actions of Defendant Melillo particularly in the 

selective manner in which he enforced Village ordinances and policies which evinced a reckless 

lack of regard for the rights of the public, including Plaintiffs, and exhibited a lack of the degree 

of due care which prudent and reasonable individuals would show in executing the duties of 

Village officials. 

149. The Village was negligent through the actions of its Planning Board  in the 

exercise of its authority to issue variances to Section 186 of the Village Code and evinced a 

reckless lack of regard for the rights of the public, including Plaintiffs, and exhibited a lack of 

the degree of due care which prudent and reasonable individuals would show in executing the 

duties of a Planning Board, particularly in regard to matters impacting homeowners of modest 

means displaced from their home with a young baby.  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Tortious Interference with Property Rights) 

150. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 
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Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

151. The aforementioned tortious acts of Defendants Village and Melillo have 

interfered in the property rights of the Plaintiffs by denying them the ability to repair their home 

to habitability and of its use and enjoyment. 

152. The aforementioned tortious acts of Defendants Village and Melillo have 

interfered in the property rights of Plaintiffs, imposing upon them financial burdens not inflicted 

upon other Mamaroneck homeowners and that were impossible for Plaintiffs to sustain, thus 

causing them to lose the use, enjoyment and value of their home. 

153. The aforementioned tortious acts of Defendant Village and Melillo have 

interfered in the property rights of Plaintiffs and constitute an unlawful taking of Plaintiffs’ 

property.  

154. The tortious interference of the Plaintiffs’ property rights, by Defendants Village 

and Melillo have resulted in significant compensatory and financial damage to the Plaintiffs, 

including the loss of their home to foreclosure and the commensurate damage to their credit 

rating.  

155. The aforementioned conduct of Defendants Village and Melillo was the 

proximate cause of the Plaintiffs’ compensatory and financial damages. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Respondeat Superior Claims Against Defendant Village) 

156. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

157. The conduct of Defendant Melillo and the Village Planning Board occurred while 

they were acting in the course and scope of their duties and functions as officials, agents or 

employees of Defendant Village of Mamaroneck. As a result, Defendant Village is liable to 
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Plaintiffs under the doctrine of respondeat superior.  

 

PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

158. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the previous paragraphs of this 

Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

159. The acts of Defendant Melillo were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive and 

were motivated with the intent to harm Plaintiffs without regard for Plaintiffs’ well- being and 

were based on a lack of concern and ill-will towards Plaintiff. Such acts therefore deserve an 

award of punitive damages. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants as follows: 

(a) Compensatory damages; 
 
(b) Punitive damages;  
 
(c) Award costs of this action including attorneys’ fees to the Plaintiffs pursuant to 42        

U.S.C. §1988; and 
 
(d) Any such other and further relief as this Court may deem appropriate. 
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A JURY TRIAL IS DEMANDED 

 
DATED:  New York, New York 

December 3, 2012 
 
 
 
     
     NEWMAN FERRARA LLP 
 
 
 
 

           By: ________________________  
Debra S. Cohen 
dcohen@nfllp.com 
Randolph M. McLaughlin 
rmclaughiln@nfllp.com 
1250 Broadway, 27th Floor 
New York, New York 10001 
Tel: 212-619-5400 
Fax: 212-619-3090 
 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 


